
Cushing PB Minutes                                                                                     7/18/07                                                                                                    Page 1 of  7 

Approved 8/1/07 
TOWN OF CUSHING 

PLANNING BOARD 
Minutes of Meeting 

July 18, 2007 
 

Board Present: Chairman Dan Remian, David Cobey, Bob Ellis, Evelyn Kalloch, Frank Muddle, CEO Scott  
 Bickford and Recording Secretary Crystal Robinson                        
 
Absent: None 
 
1. Call to Order: Chairman Remian called the meeting to order at 6:03 P.M., took a roll call and stated that the 
agenda was arranged so quicker items would be completed first. He asked the Board members if anyone objected 
to this and none did. 
 
2. Approve the Minutes of the 6/20/07 and 6/28/07 meetings: Mr. Ellis stated that all instances in the minutes 
where  “subdivision ordinance” appeared should be changed to read “subdivision regulations”.  
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mrs. Kalloch, to accept the minutes of the 6/20/07 meeting as  
 corrected. 
 Carried 5-0-0  
 
Mr. Ellis said that Page 1, Item #4 of the 6/28/07 minutes should say, “Mr. Ellis, referring to effectively granting a 
variance, at the last meeting....”. He asked a later sentence in Item #4 be changed to read, “Mr. Ellis said that Subs. 
2.4 of the SO said that these regulations must agree with state statutes and case law, which he felt this (8.2C) did 
not.”  Mr. Cobey asked that the next to last paragraph of Page 2 refer to the plan of “4/18/07”. Mr. Ellis asked 
whether the minutes of meetings should refer to the version of regulations being used or whether that should simply 
be stated at the beginning of the review. 
 
ACTION: Mr. Ellis made a motion, seconded by Mr. Cobey, to approve the 6/28/07 minutes as corrected. 

 Carried 5-0-0 
 
Mr. Cobey said he would like the observations that he had presented to the CEO at the end of the 5/2/07 meeting 
entered into the record of the 6/6/07 meeting. He also asked for a correction to the minutes of the 6/6/07 meeting:  
Page 4 – Change “Mr. Cobey agreed, but said the indication of the slope was for the entire area.” to “Mr. Cobey 
agreed, but said the soils map indication of the slope was for the entire area.” When asked, Mr. Bickford said these 
changes could be added to tonight’s record, but not to the already approved 6/6/07 minutes. 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mrs. Kalloch, to add Mr. Cobey’s comments to the record. 
 Carried 5-0-0 
 
3. Correspondence: Mr. Remian read aloud a letter (attached) from a resident Priscilla Brown Elliot, who 
expressed concerns about the Robbins Mountain common area and septic systems. He also referred to a letter to 
the Board from Mr. Muddle in response to Mark McGuirl’s allegations at the Selectmen’s meeting. Mr. Muddle then 
said he felt every citizen had a right to raise his/her concerns, particularly regarding inappropriate actions by 
appointed or elected officials. He had taken umbrage about what had been said about him in relation to Mr. Tower. 
He said he and Mr. Tower had not been socially close and he was unhappy about the distribution of Mr. McGuirl’s 
letter to state officials. 
 
Mr. Ellis said he thought a common mistake had been made about allegations of conflict of interest; this was that 
the rules manual clearly stated that conflict of interest required the payment of money. He said he thought Mr. 
McGuirl was actually referring to bias. Mr. Ellis said that Mr. McGuirl was correct that he (Mr. Ellis) had been to Jim 
Tower’s house and had been seen at a restaurant with him. Mr. Ellis said this had been disclosed to the Board and 
included in the minutes and the Board had voted on whether bias existed. He said he had also suggested that the 
chairman ask Mr. McGuirl to come before the PB with his concerns because he agreed that members had to be 
accountable and take their positions seriously. 
 



Cushing PB Minutes                                                                                     7/18/07                                                                                                    Page 2 of  7 

Chairman Remian asked any member who had any dealings with any of tonight’s applicants that would give the 
appearance of inappropriate behavior or conflict to state so. Mrs. Kalloch said she knew Mr. Corbett and Mr. 
Young. Mr. Ellis said some of the concerns expressed might have arisen when he and Mr. Tower worked on a sub-
committee together. Mr. Remian thanked the members. 
 
4. Kim A. Young, Map 7, Lot 61, Application For Ramp and Float Connection to Shore: Mr. Remian asked if 
this was not a CEO responsibility and Mr. Ellis responded that the new rules required a permanent structure to be 
approved by the PB. Mr. Young said his proposal was for a seasonal float and ramp, with only the lifting frame 
being permanent. Mr. Ellis received clarification that the entire permanent structure would be on the landside of the 
mean high water mark. The chairman directed the members to Page 17 of the new Shoreland Zone Ordinance 
[SZO] and ascertained from Mr. Young that no wetlands were involved in his project. Mrs. Kalloch asked Mr. Young 
if he would be extending beyond the cove and he said his float would be identical to Bill Page’s.  
 
Mr. Remian led a discussion of Section C (Piers, docks and wharves), reading aloud from it. He ascertained that 
Mr. Young’s means of access to the ramp would be a footpath. Mr. Young would have a platform and lifting frame 
on land and a ramp that would be removed in the fall. Mr. Ellis said that most pier applications were cut and dried 
because most applicants had their DEP permit applications in hand. Mr. Young said he had requested a permit by 
rule but was told by the DEP those no longer existed. The CEO said the application was a DEP issue on the water 
but a SZO issue on the land. Mr. Ellis said the PB could approve anything above the high water mark. Mr. Cobey 
stated that the drawing showed a structure on both sides of the high water line, while the application language did 
not. Mr. Young said the map was rough and Mr. Cobey said the Board would be approving the language of the 
application. 
 
ACTION: Mr. Ellis made a motion, seconded by Mr. Cobey, to approve the application for a land use permit. 
 Carried 5-0-0 
 
5. George Baker, Represented by Cheryl Waterman, R.E. Agent. Application for Subdivision Amendment for 
Access to Map 5, Lot 64-19, with an Easement on Lot 64-18 Providing Access: The chairman stated that Ms. 
Waterman had provided an extensive package dated 6/20/07, which would be reviewed under the new Subdivision 
Regulations [SR]. Mr. Cobey said he thought this should not come before the PB because it concerned an 
agreement between private parties to maintain a road. Mrs. Kalloch said this was still an adjustment to the 
subdivision because the lot in question had no road frontage and thus no legal access; they had to go through Lot 
18 for access and it should be on the plan. Mr. Muddle asked if it affected the subdivision because it was an 
easement across an existing lot. Mr. Tower said an easement was not a division of land. Mrs. Kalloch stated the 
owner did not have access or road frontage, as required by subdivision laws. Mr. Cobey stated that an easement 
was not a subdivision issue and the parties could just have it recorded. Mrs. Kalloch countered that it should be on 
the map if it was to be recorded on a deed.  
 
CEO Bickford said Mrs. Kalloch had a point because every homeowner in the subdivision would be affected by the 
resultant traffic, while only a few maintained the road. He thought this was a lot line, even though it could be an 
easement. He suggested the PB obtain a legal interpretation. Mr. Cobey said he thought that was silly because this 
was an agreement between a lot owner and a Homeowner’s Association, having only to do with access and 
maintenance of the road. Even if it caused additional traffic, it would not be a PB issue, he said. Ms. Waterman 
assured the Board that the owners of that lot would have the same restrictions as the other lot owners, as part of 
the conveyance.  Additionally, her client was offering the closest lot owner additional protection by curving the road 
away from her line and keeping a 20’ buffer between it and her northeast line. Mr. Remian ascertained that there 
would be no lot line changes. Mr. Bickford said the history of the existing lot included a deed transaction within the 
subdivision that violated the SO, so lot lines had been changed in a subdivision without a subdivision amendment. 
 
Mr. Ellis asked if all of the lot owners had signed off on having no problem with this. Ms. Waterman said she had a 
letter from the owner of two lots and two other abutters were present tonight. Mr. Tower said to affect a subdivision 
it had to be within a 5-year period and the line change in question occurred in 1989; he said the principle of 
overburdening the ROW was a civil issue. Ms. Waterman said the CEO had refused to grant a building permit but 
Mr. Bickford stated that none was required. Ms. Waterman said that the 20’ easement was legally created because 
it was granted before the new regulations. She asked if she could record the plan with the deed showing the 
easement. Mr. Cobey said anyone could record an easement with a deed. Mr. Bickford read aloud from the SR 
Section 38, ss488 concerning instances where review of modifications to a permitted subdivision was not required. 
Mr. Cobey said Section 38 would be in the SZO and had no application here. Mr. Bickford said Section 38 was 
under Governing Rules. 
 



Cushing PB Minutes                                                                                     7/18/07                                                                                                    Page 3 of  7 

Mr. Ellis asked what harm providing PB approval would do if the applicant wanted it. Mr. Remian advised Ms. 
Waterman to update her recorded plan to reflect the easement. He agreed that the town should have a copy of the 
updated plan, also. 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ellis, that this was not a subject for the Board’s review. 
 Carried 5-0-0 
 
6. James Corbett, Represented by Surveyor John Black, Application for Subdivision Amendment to Lot 
Line, Map 1, Lot 11-E-1: Mr. Black said he had done the original 3-lot subdivision at the end of Lovers’ Lane in 
1998. In 2002 he had changed a boundary line on Lot 2, leading to Lot 3, in order to provide the latter lot with more 
land and to provide a wider entrance into Lovers’ Lane. In 2002 they had widened the ROW and were now seeking 
approval of a line change between Lots 2 and 3. Mr. Black answered the Board’s questions about the line’s 
location. 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ellis, to approve this revision to the subdivision plan. 
 Carried 5-0-0 
 
7. Continuation of Robbins Mountain Subdivision Application, Map 5, Lots 84, 85 and 86, Presented by 
James Tower: Mr. Tower stated that it was unfortunate that people who served on municipal boards and 
committees had suffered the accusations that had been leveled simply because a person(s) had a political agenda 
and seemed willing to stop at nothing to try to forward that. He apologized to PB members who had suffered simply 
from knowing him.  
 
Mr. Remian said the Board had last been discussing storm water management in regards to this application. Mr. 
Cobey said he had a list of items from the last meeting and had gone back through everything to narrow his 
remaining concerns. His latest memo covered four items to do with the natural beauty of the area and pollution. He 
read this memo into the record (see attached).  
 
He showed the PB the map he had made, as well as the one referenced in his memo. He said he had used the 
plan from 4/18/07 because it showed the building envelopes and said the length of the 50’ wide areas that provided 
a view from each building envelope was determined by seeing out for two miles across the tops of trees, which he 
assumed to be 50’ high. He had drawn out how large an area would have to be cleared to obtain a straight-out, not 
panoramic, view over 50’ trees. He said he thought it was important to know how large the areas were because he 
did not think they would revert to forest. He said he did not see the resultant acreage of developed area, 80% of 
which was required to have some treatment, reflected in the DEP report. Mr. Ellis asked him how he thought it 
related to 80%.  Mr. Cobey said the point was that storm water had to be treated from 80% of the developed area 
on the lots. Mr. Tower said that the developer had to provide 80% treatment, rather than treating 80% of the area. 
Mr. Cobey said he thought there was more developed area than shown on the plan and Mr. Tower said that 
determination was up to the DEP, not the PB. Mr. Cobey said he thought it should be brought to the DEP’s 
attention. Mr. Remian confirmed, that referring to the technical memorandum the Board had just received from Mr. 
McLaughlin. Mr. Muddle said Mr. McLaughlin used the term “developed”, while DEP information he read referred to 
“disturbed”. Mr. Cobey said disturbed area was not considered developed if it reverted to its former condition within 
twelve months. Mr. Ellis said the DEP also referred to developed area of 6.88 acres but Mr. Cobey said that 
included the road and the letter referred to 4.81 acres. Mr. Cobey said he would like the PB to ask for a delineation 
of the viewscapes and to copy the DEP on the request. He said he found nothing in the DEP application referring to 
a 80%-90% clearing of the lots, no mention of soil disturbance, that the covenants discouraged lawns or that the 
applicant didn’t want to convert the land from tree growth, etc. He said he would make a motion asking the Board to 
support his request for delineation of the viewscapes and copy both the motion and this report to the DEP review 
staff. He said he thought the PB had a responsibility to review the storm water plan and not just rubber stamp the 
DEP. 
 
Mr. Cobey said another storm water issue was the Miller site and, though the proposed subdivision did not increase 
runoff from a 25-year storm, the impact of a larger storm’s runoff from this and the property to the north warranted 
independent review of the need to stabilize the existing drainage channel. Mr. Cobey said the channel had not been 
defined but Mr. Ellis said it was shown on the plan as moving back and forth over the boundary line. Mr. Cobey 
responded that he thought it needed to be evaluated in the field. Mr. Muddle said he was not qualified to determine 
a 25-year storm and that was not a standard to which the Board should be held; he said the DEP were the experts. 
Mr. Remian disagreed, saying the Board trusted the applicant’s assertion that the DEP had reviewed certain things, 
but his information from the DEP indicated that they did not always look at this stuff. He said he had been 
concerned for months about the statement of minor alterations to existing land cover. He said 90% of cuts in certain 



Cushing PB Minutes                                                                                     7/18/07                                                                                                    Page 4 of  7 

areas were not minor and they would affect storm water and erosion. The chairman said this was one of the main 
concerns of 80% of the people at the public hearing. Mr. Cobey said the SR stated if the Board could not determine 
whether drainage was adequate they could ask the applicant to supply a statement from a qualified professional. 
Mr. Muddle asked upon what standard the Board should base its determination of adequate drainage. He said he 
was bothered by Mr. Remian’s information about DEP, but asked what the Board could do about it. Mr. Remian 
replied that the Board should make its own decisions.  
 
Mr. Tower said his storm water management plan was designed to meet the standards of the State of Maine storm 
water law, which required the treatment specified be met at the property boundary where the storm water exited the 
property. He had designed for the highest standard (the 25-year storm) and had demonstrated that the water 
exiting was less than or equal to pre-development storm water runoff. His plan met the standards and an engineer 
had stamped his drawing, he said. There was an extended discussion of cutting, clearing, viewscapes, drainage, 
the storm water plan and who was qualified to judge it. 
 
ACTION: Mr. Remian made a motion, seconded by Mrs. Kalloch, to have the chairman write a letter to the DEP  
 asking specific questions as to the criteria that was used in the demonstration of pre- and post- 
 development landscape plans. 
 Carried 5-0-0 
 
Mr. Cobey withdrew his memo’s second item, concerning the channel, because he thought Mr. Tower’s response 
was understandable and acceptable. Mr. Cobey then read from his memo and said that the applicant had not 
demonstrated to his satisfaction that he would control erosion. Mr. Muddle said he thought this was leading the 
Board to prejudge the method of building the subdivision. He thought the applicant’s statement that he would follow 
best practices covered the erosion control measures. Mr. Cobey said he would vote no without an appropriate and 
documented response to erosion control. Mr. Tower responded that he had submitted a “Standard Details” drawing 
that contained a statement that erosion control materials would be placed down slope of any area that would be 
disturbed. Mr. Ellis read from the second page of the application narrative that there were “no critical areas... which 
are subject to high erosion after construction.” Mr. Muddle said this was also covered in Section 7 of the storm 
water management summary. Mr. Tower said that section included specific information and numeric values, which 
showed that post-development runoff would be less than that of pre-development; these numbers backed up the 
generalized statement he had made. Mr. Cobey stated that he was satisfied. 
 
Mr. Remian asked the applicant if he would say the forestry of his Meduncook Plantation and Hornbarn Hill 
subdivisions used best management practices. Mr. Tower said they did. The chairman said there were some 4’ 
trenches on those properties and erosion continued. Mr. Tower said he had seen no erosion, though there were 
skidder ruts, and water was running clear in the culverts. Mr. Cobey asked if the Board wanted to act on erosion, 
which it had tabled on 6/6/07. 
 
ACTION: Mr. Ellis made a motion, seconded by Mr. Cobey, that based on numerous nights of discussion and by  
 the discussion tonight at least leading to constructive review and some conclusions about erosion, the  
 Board makes a positive finding of fact on Section 7.4 (Erosion). 
 Carried 5-0-0 
 
Mr. Muddle said he thought the people downstream who had been concerned about erosion would be satisfied to 
know the Board had undertaken such a thorough review.  
 
Mr. Cobey said 7.6 (Sewage) had been tabled because there were no test pits signatures and no test pit for Lot 1. 
The members said the Lot 1 test pit had been supplied and agreed when Mr. Tower said the signatures had also 
been provided. Mr. Cobey, referring to his memo, said there had been no discussion on 6/6/07 of water pollution 
from septic plumes and there was no hard data on Lot 1 or the Robbins lot to be included in the plume studies, 
which he felt should include specifics before it was reviewed. He felt the PB should know where the well and septic 
were on the Robbins lot and he felt the Board was not finished with sewage. Mr. Ellis said he had asked if the 
second submittal to the DEP about stacking had addressed previous questions and was given the answer that it 
had. Mr. Remian said he thought that had not included Lot 1 and Mr. Tower agreed, adding that the location of Lot 
1 was so far removed from the others and the soils so permeable that he felt it precluded the chance that any other 
septic system would stack upon it. Mr. Tower said one of the DEP geologist’s comments had been that some of the 
nitrate plumes would stack and he had subsequently provided a nitrate study to the DEP and the town. Mr. Cobey 
asked if the study showed that any effects would be limited to the site, not affecting the properties across Pleasant 
Point Road. Mr. Tower said he believed it did and the chairman said he had been satisfied with the study. 
 



Cushing PB Minutes                                                                                     7/18/07                                                                                                    Page 5 of  7 

 
ACTION: Mr. Ellis made a motion, seconded by Mrs. Kalloch, for a positive finding of fact on Section 7.6 (Sewage  
 disposal) based on the additional submittals. 
 Carried 5-0-0 
 
Mr. Cobey said the Board had voted a positive finding on Section 7.8 (Aesthetic, cultural and natural values) but he 
now had a different view of it in light of the extensive clearing. Though clearing for views was reasonable, he said it 
changed the scenic nature of Cushing. He asked if scenic views could be created without denuding the whole 
neighborhood. Mr. Cobey said a mechanism to maintain the views, as well as a delineation of where forests would 
be cleared and maintained should be included in the covenants. He urged the PB to ask the applicant for a forestry 
plan. Mr. Remian said he had asked for such a plan on several occasions.  
 
Mr. Ellis ascertained from Mr. Cobey that he was asking the PB to reconsider the vote on Section 7.8. He said he 
thought such a request would have to come from one of the majority voters. Mr. Ellis said this was a residential 
development and seemed compatible with the existing neighborhood. He said he respected Mr. Cobey’s opinion 
that a lot of clearing had an adverse effect, but felt it could be done well and be acceptable. Mr. Ellis continued that 
he did not think the PB could require a maintenance plan for the homeowners; he felt it was a decision for the 
developer.  
 
Mr. Muddle said he had a problem with discussions of aesthetics because it was so subjective. He said he kayaked 
in the cove and he felt he would only see trees after the development. Mr. Muddle said he thought Hornbarn and 
Meduncook looked really nice and the fact that scenery might change did not mean it would be unattractive. Mr. 
Remian said the development would be visible from the water because of the viewscapes. Mr. Tower said there 
was a law court case directly on this point, which summarized that scenic and natural beauty were so subjective 
that they were immeasurable; most PB’s, when they came to Section 7.8, simply cited that case and moved on. Mr. 
Cobey asked Mr. Tower to provide a copy of the case.  
 
Mrs. Kalloch left the meeting at 9:00 P.M. 
 
Mr. Cobey asked to move on to Section 7.9 (Conformity with local ordinances and plans), which had been tabled 
because there was unfinished review of the SZO. He ascertained that Mr. Tower had faxed a request for a Board 
Of Appeals [BOA] variance. Chester Knowles said he thought the BOA planned to meet on 7/31/07. There was a 
brief discussion about what parts of the conformity criteria had been previously addressed. 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Remian, that the PB considers Section 7.17 (Spaghetti lots  
 Prohibited) not applicable because there were no spaghetti lots. 
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Remian, that the PB considers Section 7.18 (Lake  
 phosphorous concentration) not applicable. 
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
ACTION: Mr. Ellis made a motion, seconded by Mr. Cobey, that the PB consider Section 7.19 (Impact on adjoining  
 municipality) did not apply.  
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ellis, that the PB consider Section 7.20 (Harvesting) did not  
 apply because there had been no liquidation harvesting in the last five years. 
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
ACTION: Mr. Muddle made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ellis, that the meeting continue to 9:30 P.M. 
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
There was brief discussion of what remained to be acted upon. Mr. Ellis said he would like to hear the storm water 
issues in order to complete that criterion. Mr. Muddle said the developer had said there would be less runoff after 
the subdivision, so it would provide adequate protection. Mr. Ellis asked if the DEP’s response would be adequate 
to answer concerns. Mr. Cobey said he was contesting the amount of land being developed and asked if there were 
other storm water issues. The chairman said there were not and once again asked for a forestry plan. 
 



Cushing PB Minutes                                                                                     7/18/07                                                                                                    Page 6 of  7 

 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ellis, that Article VIII (General Requirements) met the  
 requirements. 
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ellis, that we find the subdivision satisfied the standards of  
 Article 9.1 (Lots: size and shape, etc.) for residential lots. 
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Muddle, that the subdivision satisfied Article 9.2 (Frontages)  
 for residential frontages. 
 Carried 3-1-0 (Mr. Remian voted against) 
 
Mr. Remian said he opposed the motion because he still interpreted Article 9.2 to mean 150’. 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Muddle, to table Article 9.3 (Open space provisions)          
 pending action of the Board of Appeals. 
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ellis, that the PB finds Articles 9.4 (Mobil home parks) and  
 9.5 (Cluster development) not applicable.                  
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ellis, to table Article 9.6 (Surface drainage) pending written  
 response from DEP. 
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Muddle, that 9.7 (Sewage disposal) and 9.8 (Water supply)  
 were satisfied by the applicant. 
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Ellis, that Articles 9.9 (Road standards), 9.10 (Cleanup) and  
 9.11 (Certification of completion of roads) had been satisfied by the applicant.  
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
ACTION: Mr. Cobey made a motion, seconded by Mr. Remian, to table Article 9.12 (Fire protection: fire ponds,  
 cisterns, dry hydrants) pending information from the fire chief. 
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
The chairman asked Mr. Tower to send the latest drawing to Fire Chief Kiskila. The applicant agreed to table the 
review until 8/1/07. Mr. Tower said he would give everyone a whole new drawing that included the culvert, the 75’ 
setback line, drainage swale and 250’ buffers. Mr. Cobey asked that the plan also show the road as a common 
area and Mr. Tower read Note #4, which said the road must be maintained, but said he would look into them being 
commonly owned. Mr. Cobey then asked for a note that septic systems would not be moved without CEO approval. 
Mr. Tower responded that he had a note saying they would be installed according to state law, as Mr. Bickford had 
requested because he had no jurisdiction. 
 
ACTION: Mr. Remian made a motion, seconded by Mr. Muddle, to table this until August 1, 2007 with the approval  
 of the applicant. 
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
8. Adjournment: ACTION: Mr. Ellis made a motion, seconded by Mr. Muddle, to adjourn at 9:30 P.M. 
 Carried 4-0-0 
 
.
Respectfully submitted, 
 

Deborah E. Sealey 



Cushing PB Minutes                                                                                     7/18/07                                                                                                    Page 7 of  7 

Recording Secretary 


